Brief of Appellant Filed 05-19-2021

FILED 05-19-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

Page 1 of 41

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II Appeal No. 2021AP000218-CR

TOWN OF BROOKFIELD, Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS.-

MARTIN M. GONZALEZ, Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION FILED ON JANUARY 26, 2021 AND THE ORDERS DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS TO DISMISS, THE HONORABLE LAURA LAU PRESIDING, IN THE WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT.

WAUKESHA COUNTY CASE NO. 2018CV002074

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

Respectfully submitted by:

Daniel M. Adams, SBN 1067564

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether Gonzalez's conviction for disorderly conduct violated his constitutional rights to free speech and to keep and bear arms when his speech was to sequence two social media posts of a magazine with bullets and a firearm between two other social media posts about going to see a movie?
- II. Whether the trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury regarding the Town's burden to prove that Gonzalez acted with criminal or malicious intent as required by the disorderly conduct statute?
- **III.** Whether the trial court erred in using Wisconsin's model disorderly conduct jury instruction insofar as that instruction fails to inform the jury that the government must prove that the defendant acted with subjective intent to threaten?

The circuit court denied Gonzalez's motions to dismiss the matter and improperly instructed the jury and thus answered the aforementioned questions "no."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Gonzalez would welcome oral argument if it would assist the panel to understand the issue presented or answer any unanswered questions that may arise, unbeknownst to counsel, during the panel's review of the briefing.

Gonzalez believes the Court's opinion in the instant case will meet the criteria for publication as it presents important and replicable issues regarding the use of Wisconsin's disorderly conduct statute against speech, specifically, speech broadcast by social media. Further, Gonzalez is seeking a three-judge panel.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a 19-year-old man's posting of four images on social media and the disruptive police response that followed in a packed theater where everyone was peacefully watching the movie "Jumanji."

For his four social media posts the Town of Brookfield (herein "the Town") issued Gonzalez a

municipal citation for Disorderly Conduct, citing and incorporating Wis. Stat. §947.01(1). (R1:4; A-Ap 4). The citation called for a fine of \$628.00. (R1:4; A-Ap 4). A municipal court trial was held on October 18, 2018 where Gonzalez was found guilty of disorderly conduct. (R1:2; Ap-A 2). A de novo trial at the Waukesha Circuit Court was timely requested and the Clerk of Court accepted the case on November 13, 2018. (R1:1-5; A-Ap 1-5).

Gonzalez filed a pretrial motion to dismiss the matter citing violations of his U.S. and Wisconsin state constitutional rights to engage in free speech and keep and bear arms, and his statutory right to carry a firearm without criminal or malicious intent. (R4:1-10; A-Ap 6-15). The Town of Brookfield filed a response in opposition to the motion on February 8, 2019 (R5:1-23; A-Ap. 16-38).

On February 15, 2019 a motion hearing was held before the Honorable Judge Laura Lau who denied

Gonzalez's motion to dismiss without offering analysis of the issues presented. (R33:1-11; A-Ap. 46-56).

On January 26, 2021 a one-day, six-person jury trial was held before Judge Lau who further denied Gonzalez's motions to dismiss at the close of the Town's evidence and after the verdict. (R34:142-145, 172, R4:1-10; A-Ap. 117-120, 123, 6-15). The court denied both motions without providing analysis of the constitutional and statutory rights at issue. (R34:147, 172; Ap-A. 122, 123). The court instructed the jury who convicted Gonzalez of disorderly conduct. (R17:1, Ap-A. 41). The court reimposed the \$628.00 fine. (R34:173, Ap-A. 124).

This appeals follows.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

The Town's primary witness was a young man,
Garrett Bartelt, who on January 2, 2018, attended a
showing of Jumanji at the Majestic Theater in the Town
of Brookfield with friends. (R34:70-71; Ap-A. 58-59). The
showing was on a "\$5 Tuesday" and was at near

capacity with 102 patrons, including Gonzalez and his friend Edgar. (R34:98-99, 106; Ap-A. 86-87, 94). Bartelt had played youth baseball with Gonzalez and considered him an acquaintance. (R34:88; Ap-A. 76).

While sitting in the theater, Bartelt by "happenstance" or "randomly" viewed an Instagram Story posted by Gonzalez. (R34:85; Ap-A. 73). Bartelt had not seen Gonzalez at the theater and did not know he would be there. (R34:85; Ap-A. 73). Conversely, Gonzalez did not know Bartelt would be at the theater and did not direct his social media posts to Bartelt (R34:85-86; Ap-A. 73-74). Gonzalez had about 300 social media followers. (R34:140-141; Ap-A. 115-116). Bartelt, and presumably Gonzalez, had attempted to attend an earlier showing of Jumanji, but because the earlier showing was sold out, attended the 10pm showing instead. (R34:71; Ap-A. 59).

Bartelt viewed three images in Gonzalez's Instagram Story¹:

¹ An Instagram Story is a running compilation of photos uploaded by the user over 24 hours. After 24 hours, the photos vanish from

2). A photo of a loaded magazine and bullets with no caption. (R21, Ap-A. 43).

emoji)." (R20, Ap-A. 42).

3.) A photo of a darkened movie theater with no caption. (R22, Ap-A. 44).

After viewing Gonzalez's Instagram Story, Bartelt switched to the SnapChat app and saw a fourth image. (R34:83; Ap-A. 71). That image was of:

4). A pistol and the magazine. (R23, Ap-A. 45).²

The timestamps on each app's images made clear this fourth image was posted online contemporaneous to the second image of the loaded magazine and bullets. (R34: 82-83; Ap-A. 70-71).

Notably, the exhibits showing the Instagram

Story show the first photo of the movie ticket was
actually the third photo in Gonzalez's Instagram Story.

No evidence was presented regarding what was

8

the Story. The photos in the Story play chronologically from oldest to newest. Stories do not allow for public comments or "likes." This feature was added to Instagram in August of 2016. *See* Instagram Stories: The Complete Guide to Using Stories, Ash Read, https://buffer.com/library/instagram-stories/ (Accessed 5/4/2021).

² SnapChat originated the "ephemeral" or vanishing content style later adopted by Instagram.

depicted in the first two preceding photos. (R20; Ap-A. 42).

Bartelt became afraid due to the sequence of the posted photos, the last of which (the theater photo) partially depicted him and his friends. (R34:89, 22; Ap-A. 77, 44). Bartelt conveyed his fears regarding the photos to his friends and then a theater security officer (R34:80, 84; Ap-A. 68, 72). Security directed Bartelt and his friends to a conference room and the police were called to the theater. (R34:78; Ap-A. 66).

Bartelt conceded the posted photos were not directly threatening, and he did not believe Gonzalez was trying to scare him specifically, but he perceived the photos as an implied or vague threat. (R34: 86-87; Ap-A. 74-75). Bartelt agreed there was no express statement of anger or violence in the postings. (R34:88; Ap-A. 76). Further, Bartelt did not observe Gonzalez doing anything in the back of the theater. (R34:88-89; Ap-A. 76-77).

An operations manager for the theater testified he was shown the social media images and "(i)t brought

concern. You know, with how things are going these days, you just never know. So you have to make that call (to the police)." (R34:94; Ap-A. 82). The manager did not delay in calling the police who were dispatched to the theater at 11:05pm.³ (R34:100, 111; Ap-A. 88, 99). The documented nature of the dispatch was for an "implied threat." (R34:111-112; Ap-A. 99-100).

The manager also stated he has previously confronted customers open carrying firearms and his response had been to "either ask them to conceal it or put it in their vehicle." (R34:97; Ap-A. 85). He further stated regarding a concealed firearm "(i)f we don't know about it, it is not a concern to us." (R34:97; Ap-A. 85).

The police responded, reviewed the photos with Bartelt, and made a plan to detain Gonzalez. (R34:103-

.

³ There is a discrepancy in the timeline as Bartelt believes he saw the social media posts just before the 10pm showing of Jumanji started. (34:80-81). While neither the theater staff nor police delayed response (34:100), the police were dispatched at 11:05pm. (34:111). The defense's conclusion is Bartelt did not check his social media accounts until sometime into the movie which indicates the lack of a threat by the absence of any act by Gonzalez beyond his enjoyment of Jumanji.

106; Ap-A. 91-94). The police executed their plan: the theater lights were switched on, the projector turned off, and the police rushed in with guns drawn at Gonzalez, they shouted commands to which he complied, and handcuffed him and his friend Edgar. (R34:96, 106-107; Ap-A. 84, 94-95). No weapons were found on either Gonzalez or Edgar. (R34:106; Ap-A. 94). No weapon was found in their car. (R34:114-115; Ap-A. 102-103). Gonzalez was surprised by the police action. (R34:113; Ap-A. 101).

After the police action, the manager stated approximately half of the patrons left the theater. (R34:98-99; Ap-A. 86-87). A combination of free passes and refunds were provided to the other patrons. (R34:96; Ap-A. 84).

Gonzalez was not called as a witness by either party at trial. The police admitted to not knowing Gonzalez's intent for posting the photos prior to their action to detain him. (R34:107; Ap-A. 95). They did receive a written statement from Gonzalez within the hour of his arrest – but did not offer the statement as

evidence at trial. (R34:116; Ap-A. 104). Of course, Gonzalez's only intention was to watch Jumanji.

Prior to the jury trial's commencement, the Parties and court held a short jury instruction conference wherein Gonzalez requested an amendment to pattern instruction CRIMINAL-JI 1900 (Disorderly Conduct) to mirror the statutory language of Wis. Stat. §947.01(2). This proposed addition was provided to the court in a pretrial filing. (R10; Ap-A. 39). The court rejected including the amending language ruling the instruction was inappropriate because Gonzalez was being prosecuted for his social media postings, not actually having the firearm. (R34:8; Ap-A. 57). In the final jury instruction conference, language regarding the carrying of a firearm was also sought by the defense, but this request was similarly rejected by the court. (R34:123-125; Ap-A. 111-113).

ARGUMENT

I. THE FIRST AMENDMENT OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION AND SECTION 3 OF ARTICLE I OF THE WISCONSIN STATE CONSTITUTION BAR GONZALEZ'S PROSECUTION.

Martin Gonzalez challenges the constitutionality of Wis. Stat. §947.01 as applied to his social media postings as the postings lacked an objectively serious intention of harming another. A comparison to the fact sets of other notable First Amendment "true threats" cases displays his posts' truly benign nature: Gonzalez did not state he would shoot the president of the United States⁴, write a story about decapitating his teacher⁵, post on social media that he would slit the throat of and blow up an FBI agent who had come to his home to investigate prior violent social media posts⁶, or say he would kill a Wisconsin circuit court judge prior to killing himself.⁷

⁴ Watts v. U.S., 394 U.S. 705 (1969).

⁵ State v. Douglas D., 2001 WI 47, 243 Wis.2d 204.

⁶ Elonis v. U.S., 575 U.S. 723 (2015).

⁷ State v. Perkins, 2001 WI 46, 243 Wis. 2d 141.

Case 2021AP000218 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-19-2021 Page 16 of 41

No, Gonzalez merely "sequenced" innocent social media posts in a manner that was given a dramatically sinister implied meaning. The Town's theory of prosecution vastly outkicked the coverage of any government's ability to prosecute speech as no objective speaker in Gonzalez's situation or any objective recipient of the speech would believe his social media postings would be taken as a true threat to harm a particular individual or group of individuals.

Whether the speech was insufficient to allow prosecution is a decision that is made as a matter of law. State v. Perkins, 2001 WI 46 at ¶ 48, 243 Wis. 2d 141. The circuit court erred in not granting the defense's motion at each stage of the prosecution and the matter should not have been allowed to proceed to jury trial. Burks v. U.S., 437 U.S. 1, 18 (1978). The Supreme Court directs appellate courts reviewing First Amendment cases to "'make an independent examination of the whole record' in order to make sure that 'the judgment does not constitute a forbidden intrusion on the field of free

expression.'" <u>Bose Corp.v. Consumer Union of United</u>

<u>States, Inc.</u> 466 US 485 at 499 (1984), quoting <u>New York</u>

<u>Times Co. v. Sullivan</u>, 376 U.S. 254 at 284-286.

Whether the disorderly conduct statute was unconstitutionally applied to Gonzalez's speech is a "question of law that (an appellate court) review(s) de novo. ... (When a statute) implicates First Amendment rights, the State has the burden to prove that the statute is constitutional beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>State v.</u> <u>Baron</u>, 2009 WI 58, ¶ 10, 318 Wis.2d 60, 769 N.W.2d 34.

The facts of Gonzalez's speech were essentially uncontested and a full review of the record is straightforward.

Classes of speech the government may punish include obscenity, defamation, fighting words, incitement to imminent breach of the peace, and "true threats." <u>Virginia v. Black</u>, 538 U.S. 343, 359, 123 S. Ct. 1536, 155 L. Ed. 2d 535 (2003). The <u>Black</u> case involved a violation of a federal cross burning statute and

described a "true threat" as a "serious expression of an intent to commit an act of unlawful violence to a particular individual or group of individuals." <u>Id</u>. at 360. The decision goes on to state:

The speaker need not actually intend to carry out the threat. Rather, a prohibition on true threats "protect[s] individuals from the fear of violence" and "from the disruption that fear engenders," in addition to protecting people "from the possibility that the threatened violence will occur." Intimidation in the constitutionally proscribable sense of the word is a type of true threat, where a speaker directs a threat to a person or group of persons with the intent of placing the victim in fear of bodily harm or death. Id. at 359-360.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court recognized "for purposes of First Amendment analysis, a 'threat' is very different from a 'true threat.'" <u>State v. Douglas D.</u>, 2001 WI 47 at ¶ 31. In that case, our court decided the permissible application of Wis. Stat. § 947.01 to speech was under its "abusive" element. Id. at ¶ 32. The Town could not fashion a theory that Gonzalez's social media "sequencing" was abusive (i.e. "injurious, improper, hurtful, offensive, reproachful…insulting."). <u>Id</u>. Instead the Town deliberately choose to proceed under the

disorderly conduct." (R34:122; Ap-A. 110). The use of this term should have signaled to the circuit court that the Town was over its skis on a permissible use of its prosecutorial power to punish speech. However, the court offered no analysis as to legality of the Town's prosecution.

Tens of millions of teenagers like Gonzalez document their activities via social media. Indeed, the number of teenagers who sometimes "post things only their closest friends would understand (or post) updates on where they are or what they're doing," is 50% and 42% respectively. Pew Research Center, Teens' Social Media Habits and Experiences (Nov. 28, 2018).

Under the objective speaker / objective recipient standard used to instruct the jury in this case,

Gonzalez's social media posts cannot be construed as a "serious expression of an intent to commit an act of unlawful violence to a particular individual or group of individuals." Black at 360.

> First, what was Gonzalez objectively expressing? The first photograph depicted a movie ticket with a caption that he would need to wait until 10pm. The photo also included a "happy face" emoji. Because the Town did not offer any evidence from Gonzalez about the meaning of the photo, the court should derive its most apparent and obvious meaning - that Gonzalez wanted to attend an earlier showing of Jumanji but was only able to attend the later 10pm showing. This is consistent with Bartelt's own experience of having to attend the later showing. Further, certainly a "happy face" emoji does not demonstrate an expression to harm or any other anti-social meaning. Instead, the literal interpretation would be the emoji expressed happiness.

The subsequent photo of a firearm magazine was uncaptioned. There was no contextual language to facilitate any understanding of what was being expressed. However, there was evidence that the magazine was not brought to the theater.

The photo of the firearm itself was done on an entirely different app platform as the others, SnapChat.

If Gonzalez were expressing some intentionally vague threat of future violence at the movie theater he would not have purposefully removed this photo from his chronologically displaying Instagram Story. Or he would have supplemented his SnapChat Story to include depictions of the ticket and theater. The easiest conclusion is Gonzalez was not purposefully expressing much of anything other than documenting his mundane Tuesday evening. An objective speaker in Gonzalez's shoes would be hard pressed to realize his posts on different app platforms would be put together into one vaguely or impliedly threatening narrative.

The last photo is of the theater. The Town's theory is the photos in sequence somehow connotates some intention to do something other than watch

Jumanji. Again, without a caption or even an instructive emoji, the Town surmises this image was truly threatening as a serious expression to do harm.

The Pew Foundation's survey question relating to teenagers posting "updates on where they are or what

they're doing" correctly and most accurately describes all of Gonzalez's social media content.

As this Court must consider the entire record in deciding whether Gonzalez's speech fell outside of First Amendment protections, it would be instructive to search the record for any contextual clues to aid in the analysis of the prosecuted speech.⁸ There would have been recognizable contextual clues regarding the photos had they been presented in a traditional fashion: if Gonzalez had walked over to Bartlet in the theater and

_

⁸ A recent law review article articulated the need for contextual analysis of online speech. The writers' expression as to the abundant misunderstandings in online speech that necessitate a contextual approach is well-stated:

The spontaneous, informal, unmediated, and oftenanonymous nature of social media gives users license to say things online that they would never say in person and contributes to the harm suffered by targets of both hateful speech and true threats. Yet, these same characteristics magnify the potential for a speaker's innocent words to be misunderstood...Moreover, different social media platforms have different discourse conventions and architectural features which complicate attempts to discern both the speaker's true intent and the meaning of her postings. Finally, speakers of different ages and backgrounds use social media differently to convey their messages, adding another layer of contextual complexity. Lyrissa Barnett Lidsky & Linda Riedemann Norbut, #I U: Considering the Context of Online Threats, 106 Calif. L. Rev. 1885, 1891 (2018).

shown him a photo of a firearm on his cellphone. This scenario would give context of the speech outside of the photo for Bartelt (and a reviewing court) to respond to – was Gonzalez merely showing the photo because he thought Bartelt would be impressed or envious of it, was their interaction friendly or tense, what words accompanied the exchange, would all be context that could be derived from an in-person speech. This context is completely absent from an online posting.

Indeed, the trial record provides no contextual clues linking the sequence of ticket-magazine/firearm-theater photos with a true threat. For instance, clues might be whether Gonzalez threaten violence previously, went through a recent trauma or behavioral change, or in any other way advance the idea that he would be interested in committing a mass atrocity. If there were such contextual clues the Town would certainly have provided them.

Instead, the Town decided not to enter into evidence Gonzalez's written statement made within the hour of his arrest or to call him as an adverse witness.

The Town also decided to not provide evidence as to what the first two images were in Gonzalez's Instagram Story. Presumably the first two images had nothing to do with Jumanji or firearms – and therefore nothing that added to the Town's make-believe "implied threat" sequencing theory. The Town's decision to not supplement the trial record in this respect speaks to the complete lack of contextual clues that Gonzalez's version of events would have provided (i.e. that no threat was being implied). His lack of any intent to threaten harm or realization that his posts would be taken as an implied threat is apparent.

There are extremely probative contextual clues within the record – there was no firearm present in the theater or in the car that transported Gonzalez and his friend to the theater and Gonzalez was surprised by the police action. These facts should be given great weight about what an objective speaker and objective recipient would have understood the social media posts to mean—which was anything other than serious threat to harm Gonzalez's fellow 10pm Jumanji-watchers.

The court should also undertake an analysis of whether Gonzalez objectively threatened a particular individual or group of individuals. This requires an analysis of who his speech was directed to – namely his 300 social media followers on both the Instagram and SnapChat apps. Gonzalez had no idea Bartelt, or any of his social media followers, would be at the theater. Moreover, he had no idea a social media follower from one of his apps (Instagram) would piece together some vague threat with the aid of a posting on another app (SnapChat).

An objective speaker in Gonzalez's shoes would have a hard time viewing his speech as objectionable, let alone predict the three-circled Venn diagram of the allegedly threatened audience – a Instagram follower, a SnapChat follower, who was also present at the same Tuesday late showing of Jumanji. Not to mention the additional audience requirement of an Instagram and SnapChat social media follower who was accessing both social media apps during the playing of the movie! This particularized group of "threatened" individuals is so

minuscule that an objective speaker would struggle to foresee the events that unfolded.

The Town predicates its theory that there was some kind of implied threat of a "mass shooting." (R34:139; Ap-A. 114). There is nothing within the photos that creates that implication – other than the presence of a legally possessed firearm. It is unclear why the possession of a firearm prior to an individual being amongst other people is threatening behavior. Those who keep and bear arms are not forced to segregate themselves from the rest of society.

Because the Town's prosecution of Gonzalez for lawfully exercising his right to speech on his Instagram and SnapChat accounts, his prosecution was illegal as a matter of law. Therefore, this Court should vacate his conviction and dismiss the matter.

II. SECOND AMENDMENT OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION AND SECTION 25 OF ARTICLE I OF THE WISCONSIN STATE CONSTITUTION BARRED GONZALEZ'S PROSECUTION.

Gonzalez challenges the use of Wis. Stat. 947.01 as applied to his posting of images of a magazine, bullets, and firearm. The mere presence of a firearm magazine and firearm – whether physically or digitally possessed - cannot be criminalized.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court recently stated that: "Examining the constitutional application of a statute presents a question of law that this court reviews independently of the determinations rendered by the circuit court or court of appeals." State v. Roundtree, 2021 WI 1, ¶12, 395 Wis. 2d 94, 952 N.W.2d 765. The reviewing court should apply intermediate scrutiny Id. at ¶ 3.

The Second Amendment to the United States

Constitution states that "(a) well regulated Militia,

being necessary to the security of a free State, the right

of the people to keep and bear Arms, shall not be

infringed." The Second Amendment's protections apply

fully to the states. See McDonald v. City of Chicago, 561 U.S. 742, 750, 130 S.Ct. 3020, 177 L.Ed.2d 894 (2010)). The guarantee of this personal right extends to "lawful purposes." Id. at 780. The Wisconsin Constitution provides: "The people have the right to keep and bear arms for security, defense, hunting, recreation or any other lawful purpose." WIS. CONST. art. I, § 25 (emphasis added).

The Wisconsin Constitution's recognition of the right to bear arms is relatively recent in comparison to the United States Constitution's. The amendment originated in the legislature and was eventually ratified by a referendum vote by the people of Wisconsin in November 1998. State v. Cole, 2003 WI 112, ¶ 9 & n.5, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328.

Furthermore, the right to keep and bear arms has been described as a "fundamental right" of all Wisconsinites. Wisconsin Carry, Inc. v. City of Madison, 2017 WI 19, ¶9, 373 Wis. 2d 543, 892 N.W.2d 233. The Wisconsin Constitution's recognition to the right to bear

arms has been described as "a straightforward declaration of an individual right to keep and bear arms for any lawful purpose." \underline{Id} . at , ¶10.

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