FILED 06-25-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT II

Appeal No. 2021AP000218 Circuit Court Case No. 2018CV002074

TOWN OF BROOKFIELD,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARTIN M. GONZALEZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WAUKESHA COUNTY HONORABLE LAURA F. LAU, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

CRAMER, MULTHAUF & HAMMES, LLP Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent By: JAMES W. HAMMES State Bar No. 01016120 1601 East Racine Avenue • Suite 200 P.O. Box 558 Waukesha, WI 53187 (262)-542-4278 jwh@cmhlaw.com

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

ARGUMENT

I. NEITHER THE FIRST AMENDMENT OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION NOR SECTION 3 OF ARTICLE I OF THE WISCONSIN **STATE** CONSTITUTION PRECLUDED **ISSUANCE OF** THE **DISORDERY** CONDUCT CITATION NOR THE **SUBSEQUENT** CONVICTION **FOR** VIOLATING THE **TOWN** DISORDERLY CONDUCT ORDINANCE

Gonzalez argues that the social media postings are protected by Gonzalez's right of free speech and cannot, as a matter of law, support either issuance of the municipal citation nor the subsequent judgment of conviction entered by the court. These arguments are both misplaced and without legal merit.

Not all exercises of free speech are protected. As the United States Supreme Court has held, "The most stringent protection of free speech would not protect a man in falsely shouting fire in a theater and causing a panic." *Schenk v. U.S.*, 249 U.S. 47, 52, 39 S.Ct. 247 (1919). While Gonzalez did not, in the instant case, stand up in his seat and yell "fire", his conduct nonetheless had the same effect and thus said conduct is not protected by the First Amendment.

One of the categories of unprotected speech that is acknowledged by Gonzalez, and is also applicable in the instant case, is the category identified as "true threat".

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has adopted an objective, reasonable person true-threat standard that is applied from the perspectives of both the speaker and the listener. State v. Perkins, 2001 WI 46, ¶ 29, 342 Wis. 2d 141, 626 N.W.2d 762. Under that standard "a true threat is a statement that a speaker would reasonably foresee that a listener would reasonably interpret as a serious expression of a purpose to inflict harm, as distinguished from hyperbole, jest, innocuous talk, expressions of political views, or other similarly protected speech. It is not necessary that the speaker have the ability to carry out the threat. In determining whether a statement is a true threat, the totality of the circumstances must be considered." Id. (Emphasis added)

Gonzalez argues, at Pages 15-17 of his Brief, that the objective true threat standard adopted in *Perkins* has been superseded by *Virginia v. Black*, 528 U.S. 343 (2003). Specifically, Gonzalez asserts

¹ The jury was instructed that in order to establish the elements of disorderly conduct, the jury must find that the evidence presented constituted a "true threat". (R34:150)

the Supreme Court determined that a true threat "must include the 'intent to commit' violence." Gonzalez is incorrect.

Gonzalez contends that *Black* replaced the objective true threat standard with his subjective standard, based in part on a statement in the *Black* decision that "[t]rue threats' encompass those statements where the speaker means to communicate a serious expression of an intent to commit an act of unlawful violence to a particular individual or group of individuals." *Id.* at 359. Not only does Gonzalez quote this statement, but underlines for emphasis a portion thereof. Despite Gonzalez's attempt to draw this Court's attention to such statement as the legal standard which applies, that is not the case.

The statement of the *Black* court cited by Gonzalez merely provides that the true threats "encompass" statements in which a speaker purposely communicates 'an intent to commit an act of unlawful violence.' *Id.* at 359. The use of the term "encompass" in *Black* means that true threats include, *but are not limited to*, situations where the speaker subjectively intends a threat. See *State v. Maier*, No. 2013AP1391-CR, 2014 WL 181051, ¶ 20 (Wis. Ct. App. May 8, 2014) (unpublished). Accordingly, the *Maier* Court rejected the argument that *Black* requires that the speaker of a true threat must

have a subjective intent to threaten and found no conflict between Black and Perkins that would justify departing from the Perkins objective true threat standard. Maier, 2014 WL 181051, ¶ 21. A similar argument that Black narrowed the definition of true threats was also rejected in *In re Robert T.*, 2008 WI App 22, ¶¶ 4, 17-18, 307 Wis. 2d 488, 746 N.W.2d 564.

Additionally, *Black* did not address the constitutionality of the objective standard at all because the Virginia statute at issue in *Black* (statute prohibiting cross-burning with the intent to intimidate) did not employ an objective standard, but rather required subjective intent to intimidate as a statutory element. See Id. at 348. The analysis in Black, and particularly that quoted by Gonzalez at Page 16 of his brief, is phrased in terms of subjective intent because such intent was an element of the statute the Court was interpreting. The Black Court had no occasion to address whether an objective true threat standard is constitutionally permissible.

The statute at issue in the instant case, Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1) does not include "intent" as an element of the offense. It is wellsettled law that a civil disorderly conduct charge in Wisconsin is appropriate in situations where the conduct in question has the possibility of provoking a disturbance in the community at large even if the conduct itself is private and non-threatening in nature. State v. Schwebke, 2002 WI 55, ¶ 30, 253 Wis.2d 1, 644 N.W.2d 666.

In Schwebke, the defendant was convicted of several counts of disorderly conduct for sending phone calls and mailing private letters to four individuals. Id. at \P 2. The letters that were sent included newspaper clippings and private information concerning the recipients. Id. at $\P 5$, 6. The content of the mailings were not in and of themselves threatening, rather they were complimentary, however they made the recipients feel as if their privacy was being violated. Id. at ¶ 10. The recipients experienced intense anxiety and paranoia as a result. Id. at ¶ 14. Schwebke argued that the non-threatening and private nature of the conduct made Wis. Stat. § 947.01 inapplicable, and that his actions did not qualify as "otherwise disorderly." Id. at ¶ 19. The court reasoned that Schwebke's conduct caused disturbances in the lives of the recipients and was disruptive towards peace and good order in the community thus the conviction was upheld. Id. at \P 32.

Conduct and speech that is likely to incite imminent disorder, aided by the precluding circumstances, can be prosecuted under the

disorderly conduct statute. State v. Minniecheske, 212 Wis. 2d 645, 570 N.W.2d 64 (Wis. Ct. App. 1997). In Minniecheske, a police officer observed a number of the defendants' cows had gotten loose on village property. Id. at 64. When the village clerk called Minniecheske to ask him to remove the cows the conversation soured. Id. Minniecheske refused, eventually saying, "Do I have to bring in the armed militia to resolve this?" Id. The clerk interpreted this as a threat and informed the police who then set up a roadblock around Minniecheske property. Id. While no militia arrived, Minniecheske was still charged and convicted of disorderly conduct. Id. Minniecheske's threat was interpreted as legitimate as he had prior run-ins with the law and was involved in militia groups. Id. On appeal, the court ruled that under the circumstances Minniecheske's words were likely to produce imminent public disorder and conviction was upheld. Id. (quoting Hess v. Indiana, 414 U.S. 105, 109, 38 L.Ed.2d 303, 94 S. Ct. 326 (1973)).

Finally, it has been established that disorderly conduct statutes can cover certain types of speech unaccompanied by actions, and there are limits on how far free speech extends. *In re A.S.*, 2001 WI 48, 243 Wis. 2d 173, 626 N.W.2d 712. Types of speech that are lewd,

obscene, profane, libelous, and those whose "very utterance inflict injury or tend to incite an immediate breach of the peace" can be prosecuted under the law of disorderly contact. *Id.* at ¶ 15, (quoting *State v. Zwicker*, 41 Wis. 2d 497, 510, 164 N.W.2d 512 (1969)).

As in Schwebke, the posts that Gonzalez made on his social media may not have been inherently threatening. However, looking at the "totality" of the circumstances, including the circumstances in which the conduct occurred, the location of the conduct, the parties involved, and the manner of the conduct, the conclusion reached by Bartlet and his friends clearly sustained the jury's verdict in this case. Gonzalez showed a lack of foresight by posting the pictures in such an order and under such circumstances that a reasonable person would have concluded, as did Bartlet, that the social postings constituted a true threat. Simply put, as in *Minniecheske*, the pictures Gonzalez posted created the risk of imminent public disorder. Bartlet reasonably saw them as a possible threat, as did the responding officers. The possibility of a mass shooting occurring is a concern that many Americans must take seriously, and a common venue for such shootings are movie theatres.

II. THE GONZALEZ CONVICTION OF DISORDERLY CONDUCT DOES NOT VIOLATE ANY RIGHT AFFORDED GONZALEZ UNDER THE SECOND AMENDMENT OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION OR SECTION 25 ARTICLE I OF THE WISCONSIN CONSTITUTION

Gonzalez argues, in the alternative that the disorderly conviction violated his Second Amendment rights to "keep and bear Arms", and accordingly, is unconstitutional. Again, Gonzalez's arguments are misplaced. Gonzalez, as well as all U.S. citizens, have a right to keep and bear Arms, but that right does not extend to the display of those Arms in a menacing or threatening manner as occurred in this case.

Gonzalez attempts to bolster this argument by asserting that the Circuit Court erred in not applying the *mens rea* burden which would have required the Town to prove that Gonzalez acted with criminal or malicious intent. This argument is premised upon a provision in Sec. 947.01(2), Wis. Stats., which provides as follows:

Unless other fact and circumstances that indicate a criminal or malicious intent on the part of the person apply, a person is not in violation of, and may not be charged with a violation of, this section for loading a firearm, or for carrying or going armed with a firearm or knife, without regard to whether the firearm is loaded or the firearm or the knife is concealed or openly carried.

Gonzalez's arguments and reliance on Sec. 947.01(2), Wis. Stats. are misplaced for several reasons:

First, as discussed above, Gonzalez's "intent" is irrelevant in this case considering the ordinance and statute at issue. The citation issued to Gonzalez incorporated, by reference, the disorderly conduct provisions set forth in Sec. 947.01(1), Wis. Stats. Section 947.01(2), Wis. Stats. did not form the basis for issuance of the citation, and all arguments in reference to that statute are irrelevant.

Second, the constitutional protections and state statute relied on by Gonzalez in making this argument are completely inapplicable to the instant case and are cited in an attempt by Gonzalez to distract the Court from the applicable standard.

Gonzalez was not issued a citation for Disorderly Conducted based on his possession of a firearm. The mere fact that a firearm may have been included within the social media postings which, taken collectively as found by the jury constituted disorderly conduct, does not infringe on Gonzalez's constitutional right to bear arms, nor does it invoke the statutory protection requiring establishment of malicious intent as argued by Gonzalez.

Simply put, Gonzalez was issued a citation in this case because of his conduct and the totality of the circumstances including all of the photographs that he took and posted on social media accounts.

That conduct instilled fear in the minds of Bartlet and his friends, and that fear was of a level which caused Bartlet and his friends to flee from the theater fearing a mass shooting might occur. Neither the issuance of the citation, nor the circumstances giving rise to issuance of the citation involves any of the conduct described in Sec. 947.01(2), Wis. Stats., and accordingly, the arguments asserted by Gonzalez are without any relevance or merit.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, and applying the applicable Standard of Review, the verdict returned by the jury in this case and the judgment entered by the Court must be sustained.